1979

# State of Utah v. Roger anderson and Thomas E. Brackenbury : Brief of the Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This was a criminal action brought by the State of Utah against the defendants-appellants Roger Anderson and Thomas E. Brackenbury. The information charged a violation of U.C.A. §76-8-508, tampering with a witness. The charge arose out of an incident which occurred on May 28, 1978, in Soldier Summit, Utah.

-----

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried by a jury in Heber City, Utah, the Honorable Judge J. Robert Bullock, Fourth District, presiding. The jury found the defendants guilty as charged in the information.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendants-appellants seek a reversal of their conviction and a dismissal of the information. In the alternative, the defendants seek a reversal and request this



Court to remand the case for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 28, 1978, defendant Roger Anderson was Chief of Police of the town of Soldier Summit, Utah. On the same date, defendant Thomas E. Brackenbury was Justice of the Peace of the town of Soldier Summit.

In the early evening of May 28, 1978, the defendants entered the J & M Saloon in Soldier Summit. Defendant Anderson's purpose in visiting the J & M Saloon was to investigate miscellaneous rumors and reports he had received which concerned, among other things, the illegal sale of liquor. T. 153, 183. The J & M Saloon was operated by one of the witnesses at defendants' trial, James Garner.

After a brief misunderstanding with the bartender, James Garner, and some of his patrons, the defendants seated themselves at the bar. After a few moments, the defendant Anderson requested James Garner, who was at the opposite end of the bar, to join him and defendant Brackenbury for a brief conversation. T. 41. The purpose of the conversation of course, was to determine the validity of the rumors and reports which Anderson had previously received.

The nature and content of the conversation that ensued between the defendants and Garner was the subject of disputed testimony at trial. Garner testified that the defendant Anderson immediately "got kind of huffy" and the conversation rapidly "ended up in an argument." T. 41,42.

The defendants testified, however, that Garner responded to their request with foul and abusive language and summarily ordered them to leave his premises. T. 155,183.

During this heated argument, Ray Applegate, a transient truck driver, attempted to intervene in the dispute in behalf of James Garner. T. 58. Applegate approached the defendant Anderson and seated himself immediately beside Anderson. At the climax of the confrontation between Garner and Anderson, Garner ordered the defendants to "get the hell out of here" or "I'll have him [Applegate] throw you out." T. 155,86. Garner then told defendant Anderson, with reference to Ray Applegate, "he's my bouncer," and Applegate immediately acknowledged this statement. T. 155-156. Defendant Anderson identified himself as the Chief of Police of Soldier Summit after which Ray Applegate apparently returned to his seat in the bar. T. 58.

The confrontation between Garner and Anderson was brought to an abrupt conclusion when James Garner struck defendant Anderson as he was drinking a soft drink. T. 42,156,184. At this juncture, both Anderson and Brackenbury immediately left the premises and parted company. Defendant Brackenbury returned to his home. Defendant Anderson secured the assistance of Butch Curtis, Soldier Summit's officer on duty at the time, and returned to the J & M Saloon. Anderson then directed Curtis to arrest Garner on the charge of assaulting an officer. Curtis was then

assigned to transport Garner to the Utah County jail. T. 102.

Anderson returned to the J & M Saloon after Garner's arrest to gather information and to arrest Ray Applegate for interfering with an officer. Applegate, by his own admission, had consumed a significant amount of alcohol and was at least partially inebriated. T. 82-83. Applegate was under the influence to the extent that it was necessary for defendant Anderson to assist him in walking from the bar to the Justice of the Peace's trailer. T. 143-144; 159; 184-186.

The events which took place in defendant Brackenbury's trailer were the subject of highly contradictory claims at trial. The witness Applegate testified that he was forcibly removed from the J & M Saloon by defendant Anderson to defendant Brackenbury's trailer. Applegate also claimed that he was intimidated in the presence of Anderson and Brackenbury. After certain statements had been prepared by Brackenbury, Applegate testified that he signed the statements because he would do "anything to get out of there." T. 88.

But defendants Anderson and Brackenbury testified differently. They insisted that Applegate was completely drunk, and stumbled about the trailer before finally being placed in a seat by defendant Anderson. They also claimed that defendant Anderson carefully questioned Ray Applegate

concerning suspected illegal sales of liquor by James Garner. Applegate volunteered the information which comprised the substance of the statements later reduced to writing and signed by Applegate. T. 160,185-186. The statements have been made part of the record and in essence charge that James Garner was selling liquor illegally.

Applegate, by his own admission could not read and write well. T. 91,99. The defendant Brackenbury testified that because of Applegate's inability to write the statements himself, he, Brackenbury, personally prepared the statements based upon the questioning of Applegate conducted by Anderson in Brackenbury's presence. Brackenbury also testified that the prepared statement was read by Applegate in final form, and that it was also read to him so that he might fully understand the same. T. 187-189. A copy of these statements is reproduced in Appendix A of this brief.

After signing the statement in the presence of defendants Anderson and Brackenbury as well as George Shade, the Mayor of Soldier Summit, Ray Applegate left Brackenbury's house trailer and returned to the cafe attached to the trailer. While at the cafe, Applegate again encountered the defendant Anderson. He offered to buy Anderson dinner or at least a cup of coffee. T. 90. Applegate then returned to his tractor-trailer rig, and left the town of Soldier Summit sometime around midnight. The defendants never saw Ray Applegate again until trial. The unsworn statements subscribed to by

Ray Applegate were never used in any administrative, legislative, judicial proceeding or in any other manner until they were produced in the course of a discovery deposition of Brackenbury and thereafter used as evidence in the course of the trial of these defendants.

After the discovery deposition of Brackenbury by the County Attorney's office, the defendants Anderson and Brackenbury were charged with a violation of U.C.A. §76-8-508, tampering with a witness. The defendants requested and were granted a preliminary hearing. But the State's key witness, Ray Applegate, was not present at the hearing. The County Attorney was given permission to introduce Applegate's affidavit wherein he made the substantive allegations which formed the foundation of the information. The defendants were denied their right to confront and cross-examine Applegate at the hearing. On this charge, the defendants were convicted on the 31st day of January, 1979.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

DEFENDANTS ROGER ANDERSON AND THOMAS BRACKENBURY WERE, IN EFFECT, DENIED THEIR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A PRELIMINARY HEARING.

A preliminary hearing did not exist at common law, and there is generally no federal constitutional right to a preliminary hearing. But cf. Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103, 126, 95 S.Ct. 854, 43 L.Ed.2d 54 (1975). Thus, a so-called "right to a preliminary hearing," if any right there be, must derive from State statute or constitution. 21

Am.Jur. 2d 445, Criminal Law §442.

The Utah Constitution provides a constitutional right to a preliminary hearing in Article I, §13:

Offenses heretofore required to be prosecuted by indictment, shall be prosecuted by information after examination and commitment by a magistrate, unless the examination be waived by the accused with the consent of the State . . . (Emphasis added.)

Concerning Article I, §13, this Court has written:

And before the defendant can be so bound over and held to answer by the magistrate, he is entitled to a preliminary hearing, unless, with the consent of the State, he waives such hearing which under the Constitution, the statutes, and authorities cited supra, he may do. State v. Freeman, 93 Utah 125, 71 P.2d 196, 199 (1937). (Emphasis added.)

Thus, to citizens of this State is preserved a constitutional right to a preliminary hearing before an accused can be properly held to answer for a crime.

That the constitutional right in Utah to a preliminary hearing is a "substantial one," was early recognized by this Court. State v. Pay, 45 Utah 411, 146 P.300, 304-305 (1915). Indeed, if a defendant is denied a preliminary hearing, "the cause must be reversed, regardless of the other claimed errors in the trial. That [a] defendant cannot lawfully be tried and convicted on a charge upon which [he] was not given, or on which [he] did not waive a preliminary hearing is elemental. [Citations.]" State v. Jensen, 103 Utah 478, 136 P.2d 949, 951-952 (1943). (Emphasis added.)

One of the rights, long recognized, which inheres in the right to a preliminary hearing, is the defendant's right to rebutt the evidence presented by the State at such hearing. Freeman, supra, at 200. Moreover, the Legislature has recognized that the viability of the defendant's right to a preliminary hearing depends upon his ability to adequately counter the evidence introduced by the State. In harmony with this recognition, the Legislature has codified the procedures to be followed at the preliminary hearing. See Utah Code Annotated (U.C.A.), §§77-15-1, et seq. Thus, that the defendant's presentation might be meaningful at the preliminary examination, §77-15-2 provides that he be given reasonable time to secure counsel. Section 77-15-8 grants the defendant the right to deploy the State's sovereign power in his behalf to subpoena witnesses for his presentat

But one of the most fundamental procedures to buttress the defendant's right to counter the State's evidence at the hearing, is expressed in §77-15-10:

The witnesses must be examined in the presence of the defendant, and may be cross examined in his behalf.  
(Emphasis added.)

Section 77-15-10 guarantees the accused the right to confront his accusers and have them cross examined in his presence, from the earliest practical point in the criminal prosecution process--at the preliminary hearing. This statutory procedural protection is consistent with the United States Constitution, Amendments VI and XIV, and the

Utah Constitution, Article I, §12, which preserve the defendant his right to confront his accusers at trial. See also U.C.A. §77-1-8(4). In Utah, the right of confrontation exists not only at trial, but also at the preliminary hearing.

In considering Article I, §12 of the Utah Constitution, this Court has stated:

Under the constitution and statutes of the state the accused had a right to be present at the trial, to be confronted by the witnesses against him, and to meet his accusers face to face. . . . He had the right, not only to examine the witnesses, but to see into the face of each witness while testifying against him, and to hear the testimony given upon the stand. He had the right to see and be seen, hear and be heard, under such reasonable regulations as the law established. State v. Mannion, 19 Utah 505, 57 P. 542, 544 (1899). (Emphasis added.)

In elaborating upon the guarantees set forth in Mannion, this Court explained in State v. King, 24 Utah 482, 68 P. 418, 419 (1902):

The chief purpose in requiring that the accused shall be confronted with the witnesses against him is held to be to secure to the defendant an opportunity for cross-examination; so, that if the opportunity for cross-examination has been secured, the test of confrontation is accomplished. See also State v. Kendrick 538 P.2d 313, 315 (Utah, 1975).

The right to a preliminary hearing in this State is fundamental. Part and parcel of that right is the right to present one's rebuttal to the State's evidence. The right to confront one's accusers at trial is also fundamental



constitutional law. But in Utah, the basic right of confrontation and cross examination of witnesses has been secured the accused not only at trial, but also at his preliminary hearing. Section 77-15-10, supra. In light of these principles, defendants Anderson and Brackenbury were effectively denied their constitutional right to a preliminary hearing.

Although the defendants were actually given a preliminary hearing in this case, they were not afforded the constitutional and statutory rights enumerated above; in fact, these rights were compromised to such an extent that they were effectively denied their constitutional right guaranteed in Article I, §13 of the Utah Constitution.

The State's burden at the preliminary hearing has been described before by this Court:

A preliminary hearing is the procedure by which the State puts on sufficient evidence to convince a committing magistrate that the crime charged has been committed and that there is sufficient cause to believe the defendant committed it. Seibold v. Turner, 20 Utah 2d 165, 435 P.2d 289, 290-291 (1967).

At the preliminary hearing in this case, two witnesses testified for the State and were cross examined by defense counsel. James Garner testified as to an altercation he had with one of the defendants on May 28, 1978. PHT 34-35 Garner's testimony did not even remotely relate to any of the elements of the crime of witness tampering under U.C.A. §76-8-508. Irvine J. Curtis testified as to two conversat

which he had had with the defendants, one on the night of May 28, 1978, and the other some weeks later. PHT 38-40. The testimony, if believed by the magistrate, would tend to establish that defendant Roger Anderson had used some force in securing the arrest of James Garner and a statement from Ray Applegate. But neither Garner nor Curtis testified as to a single element of the crime of witness tampering under the statute. Their testimony was irrelevant to establishing the elements of the crime, and the State did not meet its burden at the preliminary hearing to show "that the crime charged [had] been committed and that there [was] sufficient cause to believe the defendant[s] [had] committed it."

Seibold, supra.

But the State supplemented the in-court testimony of Garner and Curtis with certain affidavits sworn to by Ray Applegate, the only witness of the State who could testify as to the elements of the crime with which defendants had been charged. The State sought admission of the documents under U.C.A. §77-15-19, which reads in relevant part:

(2) The rules of evidence for trial of criminal cases shall apply at the preliminary examination, except that hearsay evidence that would not be admissible at trial shall be admitted if the court determines that it would impose an unreasonable burden on one of the parties or on a witness to require that the primary source of the evidence be produced at the hearing, and if the witness or party furnishes information bearing on the informant's reliability and, as far as possible, the means by which the information was obtained. When hearsay evidence is admitted, the court, in determining the existence

of sufficient cause, shall consider:

(a) The extent to which the hearsay quality of the evidence affects the weight it should be given, and

(b) The likelihood of evidence other than hearsay being available at trial to provide the information furnished by hearsay at the preliminary examination.

An extended discussion of the merits and meaning of §77-15-19 was conducted by the court and counsel. See PHT 19-30. During this discussion, counsel for the defendants made numerous objections to the constitutionality of §77-15-19 (PHT 21-22, 24, 29), as well as specific objections to the application of the statute in this particular case. PHT 19-20, 21, 23-24, 28.

Defendants' arguments, announced at the preliminary hearing and reiterated here, are essentially two. First, the documents produced by the State were sworn affidavits made by Ray Applegate, and were therefore not hearsay. The clear wording of the statute makes it applicable to hearsay only, and the introduction of the affidavits of Applegate was not provided for by the statute. The State sought, for the sake of its own convenience, to circumvent the defendants' rights under U.C.A. §77-15-10 to confront and cross examine the State's key witness, the effect of which circumvention was to compromise the defendants' right to a preliminary hearing under the Utah Constitution. Moreover, this Court has expressed its disdain with the introduction of hearsay evidence at preliminary hearings. State v. Crank, 105 Utah 332, 142 P.2d 178, 183 (1943). (To satisfy

its quest for convenience, the State could have produced Applegate at the preliminary hearing; afforded the defendants their full rights to confront and cross examine him at the hearing; and then not produced him at trial, introducing the transcript of the preliminary hearing instead. Under well-settled constitutional law, the defendants under such an arrangement would not have been denied their rights under Article I, §12 of the Utah Constitution, King, supra, at 419, nor under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 165-166, 90 S. Ct. 1930, 26 L.Ed.2d 489 (1970).

Secondly, the statute, as it was applied in the preliminary hearing of these defendants, is so inconsistent with Article I, §§12 and 13 of the Utah Constitution and U.C.A., §77-15-10 that it either must be declared unconstitutional in toto, or be deemed to have been rendered inapplicable by these constitutional and statutory provisions insofar as the case at bar is concerned. The State's introduction of Applegate's affidavits completely foreclosed the defendants from cross examining him at the preliminary hearing as to any of the elements of the alleged crime. A valuable source of pre-trial criminal discovery was foreclosed. Moreover, because the testimony of Garner and Curtis was otherwise insufficient to fulfill the State's burden at the hearing, the defendants were effectively bound over and held to

answer via a pseudo-preliminary hearing that was such a sham as to be an unacceptable compromise of the defendants' constitutional rights to a qualitative hearing. That the dignity of the constitutional right to a preliminary hearing in this State might be preserved, and because the prejudice to the defendants of an inadequate preliminary hearing in this case threatened proper trial preparation and presentation, the defendants respectfully request that the conviction be reversed.

#### POINT II

SECTION 76-8-508 OF THE UTAH CRIMINAL CODE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND OVERBROAD.

The constitutional test against which a purportedly vague statute must be scrutinized was enunciated by the United States Supreme Court in Connally v. General Construction Co., 269 U.S. 385, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926), and followed by this Court in State v. Packard, 122 Utah 369, 250 P.2d 561, 563 (1952):

The terms of a penal statute creating a new offense must explicitly inform those who are subject to it the conduct on their part which will render them liable to its penalties . . . and a statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application violates the first essential of due process of law. Connally, 269 U.S. at 391. (Emphasis added.)

The test of unconstitutional statutory overbreadth was stated by this Court in State v. Haig, 578 P.2d 837, 839 (Utah, 1978):

A criminal statute is overbroad when it, in a substantial way, prohibits lawful acts as well as unlawful acts.

In the case at bar, the defendants were charged with the violation of U.C.A. §76-8-508, which reads in pertinent part:

Tampering with witness--retaliation against witness or informant bribery. A person is guilty of a felony of the third degree if: (1) believing that an official proceeding or investigation is pending or about to be instituted, he attempts to induce or otherwise cause a person to:

(a) testify or inform falsely . . .

"Official proceedings" are defined in §76-8-501, but no definition or other explanation is given for the terms "induce," "otherwise cause," "testify," or "inform."

A close reading of the statute divulges that the Legislature has failed to include, as an element of the offense, the requirement of a mens rea or criminal intent. Well-recognized terms such as "intentionally," "willfully," "knowingly," "recklessly," or "wrongfully" delineate the mental element necessary for the commission of a criminal act. State v. Casias, 567 P.2d 1097, 1098 (Utah, 1977). All of these terms are conspicuously absent from the present statute.

But the term "believing" is found within the statute, and it obviously connotes some kind of state of mind necessary to the commission of the offense. The defendants suggest, however, that the term "believing" describes only the state of knowing that an official proceeding is pending or about

to be instituted, and in no way modifies or elucidates the phrases "attempts to induce" or "otherwise cause." If the statute had contemplated a mens rea requirement as a necessary element of the crime of witness tampering, it would have had to have been written accordingly:

(1) Believing that an official proceeding or investigation is pending or about to be instituted, he [knowingly] attempts to induce or otherwise cause a person to:

(a) Testify or inform falsely . . .

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