1979

State of Utah v. Roger anderson and Thomas E. Brackenbury : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

impermissibly vague and overbroad because it had undefined terms and allegedly lacked an express mens rea element. Therefore, they argue that Jury Instruction No. 6 was likewise vague. Respondent, therefore, refers this Court to Point II of this brief which thoroughly deals with appellants' claims of vagueness and overbreadth, and respondent reasserts that the language of the statute is adequately clear, and thus the trial judge correctly used the verbatim wording of the statute in Instruction No. 6. He could have used his own words stating the offense, but when words involved are of common usage or understanding, which is the case here, further definition is unnecessary. See Caminetti v. United States, 242 U.S. 470 (1917); and State v. Jones, 512 P.2d 1262 (N.M. App. 1973). Moreover, undefined terms within a statute are to be given their common usage and meaning (Point II, supra). Thus, further definition in the instructions would have been superfluous and perhaps misleading. Appellants in their brief at pp. 18-19 again state mere conclusions as to the need for further definition but advance no logical reasons therefor.

Appellants also renew the claim raised in Point II of their brief that the statute lacked a specific mens rea provision, and thus Instruction No. 6 failed

to cure this defect. It should be noted, that appellants' objections at trial to the jury instructions (see T. 217-219) did not focus on the lack of mens rea as they now claim on appeal. Rather, appellants objected that Instruction No. 6, ". . . [w]as not followed up with specific instructions defining the terms that are used in the statute." (T. 217). Thus, appellants failed to preserve this issue for appeal. In any event, respondent again submits there was no need for additional elucidation of the elements of the statute (Point II, supra), and furthermore, the claimed lack of mens rea was cured by the trial court's Instruction No. 8 (R. 92) which expressly required the commission of an intentional act.

Appellants next argue that the trial court erred in giving its Instruction No. 7, claiming that it presents an inaccurate statement of the law in that the statute requires a person to induce or otherwise cause a person to "testify or inform falsely," yet the court used the term "make a false statement." Instruction No. 7 reads as follows:

To constitute the crime of tampering with a witness as it applies to the circumstances of this case, it must be established beyond a reasonable doubt:

1. That the defendants believed an official proceeding or investigation was either pending or about to be instituted pertaining to suspected illegal sale of liquor by Mr. James Garner, doing business as J & M Saloon, and

2. That they induced or otherwise caused Ray Applegate to make a false statement.

R. 91 (emphasis added).

Appellants would have this Court read Instruction No. 7 in a vacuum, isolated from all other instructions. However, the law is well-settled that instructions should be considered in their entirety, as a whole. Black v. McKnight, 562 P.2d 621 (Utah 1977). Moreover, the trial court expressly instructed the jury that all instructions "are to be considered and construed as one connected whole," and "each instruction should be read and understood in reference to . . . the entire charge and not as though any one sentence or instruction separately were intended to state the whole law of the case. . . ." Instruction No. 16 (emphasis added).

Thus, when Instruction No. 7 is read together with Instruction No. 6, which quoted the witness tampering statute verbatim and required the jury to find that appellants attempted to induce or otherwise cause [Applegate] to "testify or inform falsely," then the essential elements of the crime are made clear to the jury.

However, appellants now allege that "testify" and "inform" in the court's instruction No. 6 did not clarify No. 7 because those terms were not defined. Yet, the definitions of those two terms which they now espouse on appeal, are not the definitions which they requested the trial judge to give in their proposed jury instructions and are strained, narrow usages designed to confine and limit the jury in their findings far more restrictively than common usage or the statute would dictate.

Appellants' proposed Instruction No. 2 reads as follows: "Testify as used in the statute means to give evidence according to law." (R. 79). Yet on appeal, appellants assert that the word "testify" requires statements made "under oath or affirmation" and cite legal sources as to the legal definition of the word. Although appellants' proposed instruction makes no mention of the required "oath or affirmation" which they now stress on appeal, appellants claim their rejected instruction "substantially embodied" this concept (Appellants' brief at p. 20), and imply that their definition is far superior to a juror's common understanding of the term.

Respondent submits that appellants' "unrequested instruction," now improperly argued on appeal, only embodies one of the common usages or definitions of the word "testify."

Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, 1979 Edition, defines "testify" as follows:

Testify: (1a) To make a statement based on personal knowledge or belief: (1b) bear witness: to serve as evidence or proof; (2) to express a personal conviction: (3) to make a solemn declaration under oath for the purpose of establishing a fact (as in a court). . . .

The explanatory notes to Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary at page 17a, contain the following explanation for reading the sense division of a specific word:

. . . Boldface Arabic numerals separate the senses of a word that have more than one sense:
[e.g.] quiz. . . 1. to make fun of:
mock 2: to look at inquisitively 3: to question closely.

Thus, the word "testify," according to Webster's, has three meanings, only one of which is to "make a solemn declaration under oath." Therefore, appellants' proposed Instruction No. 2 was unduly legalistic and overly restrictive.

Appellants' proposed Instruction No. 3, also rejected by the trial court, reads as follows:

Inform as used in the statute means to make an accusation against another whom he suspects of the violation of some penal statute.

(R. p. 80). On appeal, appellants again claim for the first time, that to "inform" also requires an "oath or affirmation." Yet, their own proposed Instruction No. 3 clearly did not embody this concept. Nevertheless, appellants claim at p. 22 of their brief that their proposed instruction "suggested" that an oath or affirmation be made. The above proposed instruction speaks for itself, and respondent submits that the requirement of an oath or affirmation was not even hinted in the instruction, and thus the issue was not properly preserved for appeal.

Assuming, arguendo, that the issue is properly before this Court, appellants claim that under the doctrine of ejusdem generis, the word "inform" must be given a more specific interpretation in view of the preceding allegedly high specific term "testify." Thus, they assert that to "inform" also requires an "oath or affirmation," which again neither their own proposed instruction required nor does common usage.

According to Webster's Dictionary, supra, "inform" means "to give information or knowledge," not to give evidence under oath or affirmation. Respondent submits that Webster's definition of inform would conform to the

to the common usage in every-day parlance.

Furthermore, ejusdem generis, is applicable only in situations where a statute lists several specific items followed by a general catch-all phrase, usually introduced by the words "or other." The general phrase may then be construed to be limited to things "of the same kind" (ejusdem generis) as the specific items. In this case, the statute simply states "testify or inform;" "inform" is not preceded by a list of words similar in kind to "testify" and in no way could be considered limited by the word "testify."

Returning to Instruction No. 7 as given by the trial court, respondent submits that if any party has cause to complain of the court's use of the term "make a false statement" rather than "testify or inform falsely," it would be the state in that any alleged inaccuracy certainly exists in appellants' favor. The Court's instruction narrowed the more inclusive words of "testify" or "inform falsely" found in the statute to the very specific element of "to make a false statement" as stated in the instruction; thus, making the possibility of conviction more restricted.

Finally, with respect to Jury Instruction No. 7, respondent submits that appellants make much ado about nothing due to the fact that under the witness tampering statute, the ultimate outcome of the attempted inducement is really irrelevant; the actor does not have to cause the victim to testify or inform falsely (or make a false statement) but merely "attempt" to induce or otherwise cause him to do so. Whether the victim ultimately testifies falsely or informs falsely is irrelevant to the commission of the crime. The word "attempt" along with other words in the statute, is one of common meaning and usage and thus, the statutory wording as stated in the instruction, although narrowed to a more specific act, making a "false statement," is sufficient to accurately inform the jury as to the elements of the crime. Further, giving of appellants' proposed Instructions No. 2 and 3 would have been error and may have confused the jurors as to the requisite elements of the crime.

Appellants' proposed Instruction No. 4 reads as follows:

If you find that the statements signed by Ray Applegate were voluntarily signed by him, you must find the defendants not guilty.

Appellants argue that due to the court's failure to give this instruction, their theory of the case was not presented to the jury. The law is well-settled that the defendant should be allowed to present his case to the jury. See State v. Ohio, 457 P.2d 618, 23 Utah 2d 70 (Utah, 1969), and State v. Ollison, 519 P.2d 393 (Or. App., 1974). However, the case law also recognizes that before the defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case, there must be a certain quantum of evidence to support that theory.

Here, appellants have injected a new, additional and totally unworkable element into the crime of witness tampering. Nowhere within the witness tampering statute, Utah Code Ann., § 76-8-508, supra, is there the requirement that the victim involuntarily testify or inform falsely. Mere attempted inducement (whether by a money bribe, false promises, etc), is sufficient under the statute to constitute the offense. Thus, appellants' Instruction No. 4

was not only contrary to the law, but is grossly misleading and socially reprehensible. Under appellants' theory and their proposed Instruction No. 4, a corrupt individual could induce a person with money, favors, or other inducement to falsely accuse an innocent person of a crime, and even testify against that innocent person, and as long as the inducement was sufficient enough so that the witness voluntarily accepted the deal, the person inducing the one actually causing the illegal conduct, could not be prosecuted under the statute in question. The respondent submits that such a strained interpretation of the statute violates not only the intent of the legislature, but also common sense.

Thus, appellants' proposed Instruction No. 4 was an inaccurate statement of the law and was properly rejected by the trial court.

Appellants' proposed Instruction No. 5 states:

Should you find the statements signed by Applegate were not voluntarily signed, you must nevertheless find the defendants not guilty if you also find any of the following to be true:

1. That the statements signed were factually correct.

The statute in question only requires that the actor attempt to induce someone to testify or inform falsely, and appellants' proposed Instruction No. 5 goes far beyond the intent of the statute and is a misstatement of the law. If a person attempts to induce another to inform falsely, that person may be convicted even though the other person does not yield to the inducement and does not give a false statement. Appellants' Instruction would require an actual giving of a false statement, and would totally ignore the words "attempts to induce" in the statute.

Also, the proposed Instruction was not factually supported. Appellants threatened the victim with arrest for a non-existent crime and roughed him up to induce him to state that he personally had seen liquor being sold at a specific bar earlier that evening, which he had not seen. There was never a change in the victim's story; he never saw liquor being sold and there was no evidence presented at trial that he had.

Appellant's Proposed Instruction No. 6 states:

When you are considering the credibilities and ability to remember of a witness you may take into consideration, among other things, the state of intoxication of the witness and the extent to which it has affected his ability to remember events and occurrences.

Respondent submits that Instruction No. 11, given by the trial court, more than adequately notifies the jury of all of the factors to consider in assessing the credibility of witnesses without inappropriately emphasizing one factor over the other. (See State v. Smith, 543 P.2d 834 (N.M. 1975).) Instruction No. 11 reads as follows:

You are the sole judges of the weight of the evidence, the credibility of the witnesses and the facts. In considering the testimony of a witness you may consider his appearance and demeanor, his apparent frankness and candor, or the want of it; his opportunity to observe, his ability to understand and his capacity to remember; you may consider the interest, if any is shown, which any witness may have in the result of the trial; and also any bias he may have, or any motive or probable motive which any witness may have to testify for or against either party.

If you believe any witness has wilfully testified falsely, as to any material fact in the case, you are at liberty to disregard the whole of the testimony of such witness, except as he may have been corroborated by other credible witnesses or credible evidence. You are not bound to believe all that the witnesses may have testified to nor are you bound to believe any witness; you may believe one witness against many, or many as against one. In the light of the above observations it is your privilege to judge the weight to be given the testimony of the witnesses and to determine what the facts are.

The jury heard the evidence as to Applegate's state of intoxication at the time of the incident involved. As exclusive judges of the credibility of witnesses, they were solely within their province to weigh the evidence

and the credibility of each witness. See State v. James, 89 Pac. 460 (Utah 1907); State v. Green, 911 Pac. 987 (Utah 1908). Further, the jury may accept or reject all or any part of the witness' testimony. People v. Gardner, 530 P.2d 496 (Colo. 1975).

In this case, the jury received complete, adequate and accepted instructions regarding all criteria to be used in judging the credibility of witnesses in Instruction No. 11. The Court properly rejected the superfluous proposed instruction which would have improperly emphasized one criterium over all others.

POINT IV

THE STATE'S EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH APPELLANTS' GUILT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Appellants argue that they cannot be guilty of violating Section 76-8-508, supra, as a matter of law because the state failed to prove certain elements of the offense. However, respondent submits that each of the "alleged" elements appellant claims were not proved are not, in fact, elements of the witness tampering statute. Appellants' claim is really three-fold, to-wit:

1. The state failed to show that appellant's written statement was "evidence given according to law under oath or affirmation;"
2. The state failed to show that Applegate's written statement was subsequently used in an official proceeding or investigation; and
3. The state failed to show that Applegate actually falsely informed to someone other than appellants.

With respect to appellants' first claim, much depends on how this Court resolves the issues raised in Point III of this appeal. Appellants asserted in Point III that the terms "testify" and "inform" in Section 76-8-508 must be given a very restrictive legal meaning to include only situations where the declarant makes the

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